The Americas Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology ©2011 Global Science Books



## Living in the O-zone: Ozone Formation, **Ozone-Plant Interactions and the Impact** of Ozone Pollution on Plant Homeostasis

## Godfrey P. Miles<sup>1</sup> • Marcus A. Samuel<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> U.S. Department of Agriculture – Agricultural Research Service, 5230 Konnowac Pass Road, Wapato, WA 98951, USA <sup>2</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, University of Calgary, 2500, University Drive, NW, Calgary, AB, T2N 1N4, Canada

Corresponding author: \* msamuel@ucalgary.ca

## ABSTRACT

Ozone  $(O_3)$  is a key constituent of the terrestrial atmosphere. Unlike in the stratosphere, where  $O_3$  provides an essential barrier to incoming UV radiation, within the troposphere, it is a major secondary air pollutant that is estimated to cause more damage to plant life than all other air pollutants combined. In the troposphere,  $O_3$  is produced by photochemical oxidation of primary precursor emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), carbon monoxide (CO), and sulfur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) in association with elevated levels of oxides of nitrogen (NO<sub>x</sub>  $\equiv$  NO + NO<sub>2</sub>). Because of its strong oxidizing potential, ozone is damaging to plant life through oxidative damage to proteins, nucleic acids and lipids either directly or as a result of reactive oxygen species (ROS) derived from O<sub>3</sub> decomposition. In plants, ROS, directly or indirectly derived from O<sub>3</sub> exposure, are routinely scavenged by an array of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defense mechanisms. The various ROS generated by O<sub>3</sub> have strong influence on the plant's biochemical and signalling network eliciting a wide range of responses including cell death.

Keywords: hydrogen peroxide, mitogen-activated protein kinase, reactive oxygen species, signalling, transgenic trees Abbreviations: APX, ascorbate peroxidase; CAT, catalase;  $Fe^{2+}$ , ferrous ion;  $Fe^{3+}$ , ferric ion; GSH, reduced glutathione;  $H_2O_2$ , hydrogen peroxide; HHP, hydroxyhydroperoxide; HO', hydroxyl radical; HR, hypersensitive response; MDHA, monodehydroascorbate; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate;  $NO_x$ , nitrogen oxides;  $O(^{3}P)$ , ground state oxygen;  $O(^{1}D)$ , electronically excited state of oxygen; SA, salicylic acid; SOD, superoxide dismutase; VOC, volatile organic compounds

## CONTENTS

OZONE FORMATION AND DISTRIBUTION	
EFFECTS OF O3 EXPOSURE ON PLANTS	
O3-INDUCED OXIDATIVE STRESS IN PLANT TISSUES: IN VIVO PRODUCTION OF ROS	55
ORIGINS OF METABOLIC REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES	
Plant mitochondria	
Plant peroxisomes	
ANTIOXIDANT METABOLITES AND ENZYMES	
OXIDATIVE STRESS AND CALCIUM IONS	
CALCIUM IONS IN CELLULAR PROCESSES	
O3, ROS AND HYPERSENSITIVE CELL DEATH	59
ADDITIONAL SIGNALLING SPECIES	
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
REFERENCES	

## **OZONE FORMATION AND DISTRIBUTION**

In the atmosphere of early Earth, before photosynthetic archaea and bacteria evolved, free oxygen was practically non-existent. Around 2.7 billion years ago, free oxygen started to gas out from the oceans into the atmosphere where it gradually accumulated, ultimately converting the early reducing atmosphere to an oxidizing one. It was not until the Paleoproterozoic era, between 2.5 and 1.6 billon years ago, that significant levels of free oxygen started to accumulate in Earth's atmosphere (Holland 1994). In early days, the majority of this free oxygen combined with dissolved iron in the oceans forming banded iron formations, which are still present today (Eigenbrode et al. 2006, and references within). The presence of large amounts of free

and dissolved oxygen in the oceans and atmosphere of early Earth, led to a massive ecological change that disadvantaged the already existing anaerobic organisms. The evolution of photosynthesis and respiration of oxygen made the evolution of eukaryotic cells and eventually multicellular organisms such as plants and animals possible.

In the upper layers of the stratosphere, O2 molecules absorbed UV radiation (UVR) from the sun in a photochemi-cal reaction that eventually led to the formation of ozone  $(O_3)$ . The resulting stratospheric  $O_3$  layer that surrounds the Earth acted as a "filter" against a significant amount of the incoming UVR that once had passed through the atmosphere. This allowed for the colonization of the Earth's oceans and land masses by early life forms.

O<sub>3</sub> forms readily in the stratosphere, above about 30 km,

primarily as a result of photo-dissociation of diatomic oxygen by high energy, UVR of wavelengths less than 240 nm  $(\lambda < 240 \text{ nm})$ . A theory for the photochemical mechanism of  $O_3$  production in the stratosphere was first proposed by Chapman (1930) and thus often is referred to as the "Chapman mechanism." The reaction sequence starts with the ultraviolet photolysis of diatomic oxygen (R1), which creates two oxygen radicals followed by each of these oxygen radicals reacting with another molecule of molecular oxygen, forming  $O_3$  (R2). These oxygen atoms usually exist in the triplet or ground state i.e.  $O({}^{3}P)$ , however, at wavelengths less than 175 nm, both a triplet state and an excited state i.e. O(<sup>1</sup>D) oxygen atoms are formed. This oxygen atom, in an excited state, on collision with some diatomic molecule (M) will result in an oxygen atom in the ground state. In these reactions, (hv) denotes a quantum of radiation of appropriate energy, and the symbol (M) refers to a third molecule, such as N<sub>2</sub> or O<sub>2</sub>, which stabilizes (conservation of energy and momentum) the reaction by absorbing a portion of the energy released in O<sub>3</sub> formation. In order for a balance to be maintained, without the O<sub>3</sub> concentration increasing indefinitely, there must be additional reactions that intervene to destroy  $O_3$ . Chapman proposed that  $O_3$  in the stratosphere is destroyed through photolysis of O<sub>3</sub>, reactions (R3 and R4). This dissociation produces both atomic oxygen and molecular oxygen, with the atomic oxygen in an excited state. This newly formed atomic oxygen atom can then combine with molecular oxygen to produce an  $O_3$ molecule as in reaction (R2), or with  $O_3$  to produce two molecules of oxygen, reaction (R4). This continuing process of O<sub>3</sub> production and destruction, called the O<sub>3</sub>-oxygen cycle, described by Chapman (1930), thus maintains an  $O_3$ layer in the stratosphere, where about 90% of the Earth's O<sub>3</sub> is located (Schemes 1 and 2).

In the 1960s, it was discovered that models based solely on the Chapman cycle over predicted the concentration of stratospheric O<sub>3</sub> (reviewed in Solomon 1999). It is now recognized that several additional mechanisms (cycles) intervene in the destruction of O<sub>3</sub> (Crutzen and Oppenheimer 2008; McConnell and Jin 2008; Velasco *et al.* 2008). Two of these mechanisms are shown in reactions R5-R6 and reactions R7-R9, respectively. The first of these mechanisms is the HO<sub>x</sub> (hydroxyl ('OH) and hydroperoxyl (HO'<sub>2</sub>) radicals) or (odd hydrogen catalytic cycles) mechanism and the second being a cycle involving nitrogen monoxide (NO') and nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) (odd nitrogen catalytic cycle). In the reaction where N<sub>2</sub>O combines with atomic oxygen to produce two molecules of NO, oxygen is in an excited state O(<sup>1</sup>D) and thus must first lose energy by contacting a third body (M) to produce a ground state oxygen. In addition to these mechanisms, there are other mechanisms involving halogens like bromine and chlorine (Cl-Br catalytic cycle) (Crutzen and Oppenheimer 2008; McConnell and Jin 2008).

 $O_3$  produced in the stratosphere can enter the troposphere via what is known as the stratosphere-troposphere exchange phenomenon (Shapiro 1980). This process appears to involve large-scale eddies in the jet stream region, and results in net movements of  $O_3$  from the stratosphere to the troposphere. This process, though it exists, accounts for only a small part of the tropospheric (ground-level)  $O_3$ , whereas; the majority of ground-level  $O_3$  is formed *in situ* by photochemical reactions involving VOCs and nitrogen oxides (NOx), which are produced in large quantities in and around heavily industrialized areas (Chameides *et al.* 1988, and references within; Poisson *et al.* 2000).

In the troposphere,  $O_3$  is produced by the same reaction responsible for its formation in the stratosphere: the addition of ground state oxygen atoms to molecular oxygen in the presence of a third body, such as  $N_2$  or  $O_2$ . In the troposphere, however, only UV radiation with a wavelength greater than (>290 nm), which is not energetic enough for photo-dissociation of diatomic oxygen to occur, exists, due to nearly complete absorption of shorter wavelengths by  $N_2$ or  $O_2$  in the stratosphere and tropopause. In the troposphere, the only significant source known for the ground state oxygen atom, needed for O<sub>3</sub> formation, is through the photodissociation of  $NO_2$  (R10). When produced, the ground state oxygen can combine, in the presence of a third body, with molecular oxygen to produce O<sub>3</sub> (R11). The NO<sup>•</sup> produced in (R10), which is also produced as a result of fuel combustion above 2000°C, spontaneously reacts with this newly formed  $O_3$  (R12) resulting in the destruction of  $O_3$ . In an unpolluted troposphere, a steady-state concentration of O<sub>3</sub> can be predicted based on concentrations of reaction partners as well as the intensity of sunlight (Pitts and Finlayson 1975; Barrett et al. 1998). This process of O<sub>3</sub> formation and destruction depicted in (R10-R12) is known as the null cycle. This steady-state level of O<sub>3</sub> predicted by the null cycle can be drastically altered as a result of concurrent oxidation of oxidizable species such as carbon monoxide (CO), sulfur dioxide  $(SO_2)$ , aldehydes, and hydrocarbons in the presence of elevated levels of NOx (Pitts and Finlayson 1975; Barrett et al. 1998; Sillman 1999). One such mechanism is shown for the oxidation of CO (R13-R16) which results in the formation of O<sub>3</sub>. Reactions (R17 and R18) show the formation of O<sub>3</sub> through the oxidation of various hydrocarbon species.

A number of atmospheric trace gases such as  $O_3$ ,  $H_2O_2$ , formaldehyde (HCHO), nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>), NO<sub>2</sub> undergo photolysis when they absorb UVB (280-320 nm) radiation. These photolysis products (O, NO', OH, H, HCO and eventually HO'<sub>2</sub> and organic peroxy radicals) exist as highly reactive species in the atmosphere. The increased production of these reactive species adds to the oxidizing capacity of the troposphere, and thus to the oxidant challenge faced by living organisms (Tang *et al.* 1998).

The adverse effect of  $O_3$  on plants was first identified in the 1950s (Hill et al. 1961), and since then, has been of growing importance as a major phytotoxin. Studies have shown that O<sub>3</sub> and other atmospheric oxidants are responsible for as much as 90% of agricultural crop loss due to air pollution (Heck et al. 1984a, 1984b). In 2000, global crop losses were estimated to be between US \$14 and \$26 billion, with 40% of this loss in China and India (Van Dingenen et al. 2009). Similarly, in forest systems,  $O_3$  is believed to cause more damage to trees than any other gaseous pollutant (Koch et al. 1998; Langebartels et al. 1998). In the Los Angeles Basin, the Federal Ambient Air Quality Standard of 120 nl L<sup>-1</sup> (averaged over a 1 hr period) is exceeded 90-100 days a year (Mudd *et al.* 1997) and peak  $O_3$  levels can exceed 400 nl L<sup>-1</sup> (1 hr daily maxima) (McCurdy 1994).  $O_3$  is not only a problem in cities and industrialized areas, rural locations are also affected by elevated levels of O<sub>3</sub> due to long-distance (local as well as inter-continental) transport of O<sub>3</sub> and its chemical precursors (Prather et al. 2003). Because the complex series of reactions are driven by temperature and sunlight, O<sub>3</sub> formation varies hourly, daily and seasonally. On a global scale, mean concentrations of tropospheric O<sub>3</sub> have increased by approximately two-times over the past century due to greatly elevated levels of emissions of fossil fuel and biomass burning (Gauss et al. 2006; Denman et al. 2007), with the possibility of tropospheric  $O_3$  levels increasing 20-25% by 2050 (Meehl et al. 2007). Over the past 20 years in North America, ambient concentrations of O<sub>3</sub> have increased 1 to 2% per year with no indication of leveling off (Stockwell et al. 1997) (Scheme 3).

## **EFFECTS OF O3 EXPOSURE ON PLANTS**

It has been known for a long time that  $O_3$  has detrimental effects on vegetation of all types (**Fig. 1**). The effects of this pollutant on plants include diminished photosynthesis (Runeckles and Krupa 1994; Darral 1989; Brendley and Pell 1998), characteristic flecking, chlorosis and formation of necrotic lesions (Manning and Krupa 1992); retarded growth, increased lipid peroxidation (Hewitt *et al.* 1990); membrane damage (Heath 1988); and accelerated foliar senescence (Pauls and Thompson 1980). All of these symptoms can be related to the initial production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the affected tissues (Grimes *et al.* 



**Poplar** - air control

Poplar - ozone damaged

Fig. 1 O<sub>3</sub>-induced foliar damage to Poplar showing typical leaf bronzing, patches of dead cells and general yellowing.

1983; Patton and Garraway 1986; for a review, see Runeckles and Chevone 1992).

 $O_3$  and UVR also induce additional stress-related genes such as lipoxygenase (LOX), polyphenol oxidase (PPO), phenylalanine ammonia lyase (Pal), and proteinase inhibitors I and II (Pin) (Lois and Hahlbrock 1992; Maccarrone *et al.* 1992; Bell and Mullet 1993; Sharma and Davis 1994; Sano *et al.* 1994). This indicates that these stressors may share all or part of the subsequent signal transduction cascades.

#### O<sub>3</sub>-INDUCED OXIDATIVE STRESS IN PLANT TISSUES: IN VIVO PRODUCTION OF ROS

ROS consist of oxygen-centered redox derivatives of molecular oxygen. The parental molecule for many of these derivatives is the free radical 'O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>. The family of ROS species derived from 'O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> consists of a number of other free radicals, most notably the 'OH and HO<sub>2</sub>', which is the conjugate acid to the superoxide anion ('O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>). In addition to these 'O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> derived free radicals, various oxygen derivatives that are not free radicals, e.g., H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, are also formed. Reactive nitrogen species (RNS) such as the parental radical, NO', and an array of redox-active derivatives such as NO<sub>2</sub>' and peroxinitrite (ONOO'), are also formed, but the impact of RNS is outside of the scope of this review.

 $O_3$  enters plants via the stomata in the leaf surface during normal gas exchange (Kerstiens and Lendzian 1989), diffuses through the inner air spaces and is absorbed into the apoplast of the mesophyll cells (Morgan and Wenzel 1985; Salter and Hewitt 1992; Sharma and Davis 1997; Renaut et al. 2009). The O<sub>3</sub> concentration in the apoplastic cavity is close to zero (Laisk et al. 1989), indicating that O<sub>3</sub> is rapidly degraded. Initial targets for O<sub>3</sub> include water, susceptible amino acids in plasma membrane proteins, organic metabolites present in the cell wall, apoplastic enzymes, and lipids. When O<sub>3</sub> comes in contact with pure water, 'OH and peroxyl radicals and  $O_2$  are formed, albeit, these reactions proceed slowly at neutral pH (Heath 1987). However, when phenolic compounds are present, the rate of 'OH formation is greatly increased over that of pure water; pointing to the importance of biologically relevant compounds in the production of O<sub>3</sub>-derived ROS.

As a result of these above-mentioned interactions,  $O_3$  degrades rapidly to secondary oxidizing products such as  $O_2$ ,  $HO_2$ , the conjugate acid of  $O_2$ , HO', and singlet oxygen ( $^1O_2^*$ ). In addition to these free radical species, various non-radical oxygen-centered species, e.g.,  $H_2O_2$  are also formed (Mehlhorn *et al.* 1990; Runeckles and Vaartnou 1997; Pellinen *et al.* 1999). It can also form ozonides and lipid peroxides that can initiate a series of reactions producing further damaging reactive oxygen intermediates

(Sharma and Davis 1997). Because of the strong oxidizing potential (+2.07 eV) of O<sub>3</sub>, the accepted view is that the primary reactions of O<sub>3</sub> manifest in the apoplastic space.

O<sub>3</sub> has the ability to react with all hydrocarbons, but has a higher affinity for unsaturated hydrocarbons, such as polyunsaturated fatty acids found in lipid bilayers of living cells. The most rapid reaction between O<sub>3</sub> and unsaturated hydrocarbons is through the process of Criegee ozonation (Criegee 1957; Kelly et al. 1995). The first step in this reaction mechanism is initiated through the non-radical mediated electrophilic reaction (1, 3-dipolar -cycloaddition) of O3 with an unsaturated C-C bond resulting in a trioxygen intermediate, 1,2,3-trioxalane (Fig. 2a) (Criegee 1957; Squadrito *et al.* 1992). The 1,2,3-trioxolane, also known as a maozonide or primary ozonide, derivative can decompose through  $\gamma\beta$ -scission to give either the carbonyl oxide and aldehyde directly (Fig. 2b) or undergo O-O bond homolysis to yield a very unstable biradical species (Fig. 2e), which then can partition to give the carbonyl oxide (Fig. 2f) or undergoes  $\beta$ -scission yielding alkyl and peroxyl radicals (Fig. 2g) (Criegee 1957; Squadrito et al. 1992; Pryor 1994; Kelly et al. 1995). In the absence of water, the aldehyde and carbonyl oxide recombine to form 1,2,4-trioxalane (cis- or trans-Criegee ozonide or secondary ozonide), which is relatively stable (Fig. 2c). In an aqueous environment, however, the carbonyl oxide has a proclivity to react with water, resulting in the production of a hydroxyhydroperoxide (HHP) compound (Fig. 2d) with the concomitant formation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Squadrito et al. 1992, and references within; Kelly et al. 1995). This pathway is a consequence of the lower affinity of the carbonyl oxide for the aldehyde species compared to water (Cueto et al. 1992; Pryor et al. 1992, 1995).

It has been postulated that the  $H_2O_2$  produced here, as well as other sources, may encounter free transition metals, including ferrous (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) ions, to produce the very reactive OH through what is known as the Haber-Weiss cycle, via Fe-catalyzed Fenton chemistry, reactions (R19-R24) and discussion below (Fenton 1894; Haber and Willstätter 1931; Haber and Weiss 1932; Haber and Weiss 1934; Grimes *et al.* 1983; Storz *et al.* 1990; Runeckles and Vaartnou 1997; Storz and Imlay 1999). It is also possible for the transition metals to react directly with the HHP compound to produce OH. However, no matter what form the oxidizing species take, it is reasonable to predict that O<sub>3</sub> could be eliciting its downstream effects, at least in part, through the initial rapid oxidation of cell signalling components situated at or near the cell surface.

The Haber-Weiss cycle reactions (R20-R21) were first proposed by Haber and Willstätter (1931) to specifically explain the action of catalase, and should be called the Haber-Willstätter cycle. The Fenton reaction (R19) starts the chain producing OH ions which is then followed by the chain indicated in reactions (R20 and R21), the Haber-Weiss cycle and ending by chain termination, reaction (R22). Reactions (R23 and R24) were published in Haber and Weiss (1934), but at the time were not considered important. However, it was later shown (Weiss and Humphrey 1949) that reaction (R24), in the presence of ferric (Fe<sup>3+</sup>) ions, largely replaces reaction (R21), the second reaction (i.e. the reduction of  $H_2O_2$  by  $O_2$ ) of the Haber-Weiss cycle (Koppenol 2001). In an additional paper (George 1947), it was shown that the second reaction (R21), the reaction of  $H_2O_2$  with O<sub>2</sub>, is far too slow compared to the rapid dismutation of  $O_2$  to be of any importance (Koppenol 2001). Other work has shown that oxygen is not produced from reaction (R21) but rather evolves from the reduction of  $Fe^{3+}$  ions by  $O_2^{-}$  in reaction (R24). Thus, (1) production of 'OH radicals arises from the Fenton reaction (R19) and not from the Haber-Weiss cycle and (2) reaction (R21) does not take place and should therefore no longer be discussed as a possible source for 'OH radicals in living systems.



Fig. 2 Reaction scheme for ozonation of alkene bonds. Reactions (a-c) leading to the formation of the secondary ozonide or Criegee ozonide, outline the classical Criegee ozonation pathway. In an aqueous environment, however, reaction pathway (d) predominates, via the hydroxyhydroperoxide species with concomitant  $H_2O_2$  and 'OH production, the later if free transition metals such as ( $Fe^{2+}$  or  $Cu^{2+}$ ) are present. The primary ozonide species typically undergoes a  $\gamma\beta$ -scission producing the carbonyl oxide (b), however, can also yield a biradical species (e) which can partition to give the carbonyl oxide (f), or transition by  $\beta$ -scission to yield peroxyl and alkyl radicals (g).

# ORIGINS OF METABOLIC REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES

While ROS are produced in cells as a result of environmental stresses such as O<sub>3</sub> and UVR, they are also produced in unstressed cells as a result of normal metabolic events (Foyer et al. 1994; Abe et al. 1998; Blumwald et al. 1998). In green plant parts in the light, the metabolic event with perhaps the greatest propensity for ROS production in plants is photooxidation in chloroplasts and peroxisomes, where the major ROS produced is 'O2' (Asada 1992; Foyer et al. 1994; Foyer and Noctor 2003). In non-green plant parts or in darkness, the mitochondria have been suggested to produce the majority of ROS (Maxwell et al. 1999; Møller 2007; Møller et al. 2007). This ROS production is generally caused by an over-reduction of the electron transport chain (Møller *et al.* 2007). Within this oxygen-rich microenvironment,  ${}^{1}O_{2}^{*}$  is produced at photosystem I (PSI) while  $O_2^-$  is formed via direct donation of an electron to oxygen from reduced ferredoxin residing in the photosynthetic electron transport chain, photosystem II (PSII) (Asada 2006; Foyer et al. 1994; Kangasjarvi et al. 1994).

The initial step in the reduction of  $O_2$  by electrons leaking from these high energy systems (**Fig. 3**) produces the short-lived HO<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup> and  $O_2^-$  radicals. HO<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup> and  $O_2^-$  radicals from hydroperoxides with unsaturated carbon skeletons such as membrane fatty acids, and also oxidize specific amino acids, such as histidine, methionine and tryptophan. HO<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup>, the conjugate acid of  $O_2^-$  has the ability to move, to some degree, across lipid barriers due to its low electronegative character.

Further reduction of  $O_2^-$  yields  $H_2O_2$ , a relatively longlived molecule with the ability to diffuse greater distances and to readily cross cellular membranes (Brendley and Pell 1998; Branco *et al.* 2004; Bienert *et al.* 2007).  $H_2O_2$  can oxidize -SH groups, a process that is greatly enhanced by the presence of transition metals (catalysts) such as Cu<sup>2+</sup> (cupric) and Fe<sup>2+</sup>. With further reduction of  $H_2O_2$ , the production of the 'OH radical (discussed above); an extremely reactive species with a propensity to oxidize biological targets very near to its site of production, is possible.



Fig. 3 Representation of various activation states of oxygen found in a physiologically normal plant cell.

#### Plant mitochondria

Mitochondria are also important producers of cellular ROS (Poyton and McEwen 1996; reviewed in Kowaltowski and Vercesi 1999). In fact, it is estimated that 1-5% of the oxygen reduced by the plant mitochondria, results in ROS production (Boveris and Chance 1973; Møller 2001; Kowaltowski and Vercesi 1999). This 1-5% conversion rate of molecular oxygen to ROS is increased under biotic and abiotic stresses (Tenhaken et al. 1995). The main sites for ROS production in plant mitochondria (Rich and Bonner 1978) are similar in mammalian mitochondria (Boveris et al. 1976; Turrens and Boveris 1980; Chakraborti et al. 1999). The sites of mitochondrial ROS production are complexes I (NADPH-Q-reductase) and the ubiquinone reductase site (complex III) of the respiratory chain. Braidot et al. (1999) demonstrated that in pea stem mitochondria, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is produced at complex II (succinate dehydrogenase).

#### Plant peroxisomes

Plant peroxisomes play important roles in myriad metabolic processes including photorespiration, fatty-acid  $\beta$ -oxidation, the glyoxylate cycle and the generation/degradation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (reviewed in Corpas *et al.* 2001), subsequently producing the following oxygen and nitrogen species: H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub>, and NO. Plant peroxisomes, in addition to chloroplasts and mitochondria, should be considered as cellular compartments able to produce and deliver important oxygen-based signalling molecules into the cytosol.

#### ANTIOXIDANT METABOLITES AND ENZYMES

Plants constitutively produce a basal level of antioxidant metabolites and enzymes which help to protect them from the potential damaging effects of exogenous and endogenous ROS.  $O_3$ - and UVR-exposure are also known to increase, in a number of plants, the expression of numerous

antioxidant enzymes (**Fig. 4, Table 1**) including: superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidases (POXs), catalase (CAT), and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) (Tanaka *et al.* 1988; Conklin and Last 1995; Rao *et al.* 1996; Boldt and Scandalio 1997). SOD catalyzes the dismutation of  $O_2^-$  (and its conjugate acid HO<sub>2</sub>) to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> (Foyer *et al.* 1994; Kangasjarvi *et al.* 1994). There are different types of SOD located in the chloroplasts, mitochondria and the cytosol (Bowler *et al.* 1992). Some peroxidases catalyze reduction of alkyl-peroxides to H<sub>2</sub>O and an alcohol in a reaction coupled to oxidation of a reductant (AH<sub>2</sub>). Catalase, a hydroperoxidase, catalyzes the decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> into O<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O, without the production of free radicals (Foyer *et al.* 1994).

APX is an important part of the ascorbate-glutathione cycle (Fig. 4) (Kangasjarvi et al. 1994). There are different types of APX located in the cytosol (soluble), cytosol (membrane bound), chloroplast (thylakoid membrane bound), and chloroplast (stromal) (Kubo et al. 1992; Jespersen et al. 1997; Santos et al. 1998). APX catalyses the first step in the ascorbate-glutathione cycle by reducing H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to H<sub>2</sub>O, where ascorbate is the electron donor (Mittler and Zilinskas 1991; Noctor and Foyer 1998). The ascorbate-glutathione (Halliwell-Asada) pathway starts, as stated above, by the reduction of  $H_2O_2$  to form monodehydroascorbate (MDHA). The regeneration of ascorbate from MDHA can come about by two different mechanisms. The first is catalytic reduction of MDHA by NADH, mediated by monodehydroascorbate reductase, while the second is spontaneous diproportionation of MDHA into ascorbate and dehydroascorbate (DHA). In a connected set of reactions, ascorbic acid can be reclaimed from DHA via the dehydroascorbate reductase reaction, in which reduced glutathione (GSH) is oxidized to form GSSG. Subsequently, GSH is reformed from GSSG by reduction with NADPH, a reaction catalyzed by glutathione reductase.

### **OXIDATIVE STRESS AND CALCIUM IONS**

It has previously been demonstrated that oxidants like  $O_3$ , UVR and  $H_2O_2$  can induce a transient increase in intracellular calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) in many types of plant cells. Clayton *et al.* (1999) demonstrated in aequorin-expressing Arabidopsis plants that  $O_3$  exposure elicited a rapid but transient biphasic increase in cytosolic free Ca<sup>2+</sup>. Cytosolic calcium homeostasis may be sensitive to the oxidation status of the glutathione pool, which it responds to via the plasma membrane Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase (reviewed in, Price *et al.* 1996). In this model, an increase in the ratio of oxidized (GSSG) to reduced (GSH) glutathione causes a pronounced reduction in the activity of calcium transport proteins responsible for removing Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the cytosol, leading to an increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>.

This oxidant-induced elevation in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  ions may further induce the production of  $O_2^-$  (and eventually  $H_2O_2$ ) via a  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent NADPH oxidase-mediated mechanism, thus creating a positive feedback loop. Consistent with this mechanism, Larkindale and Knight (2002) showed that heat-induced oxidative damage in Arabidopsis cells was abrogated by pretreatment with various  $Ca^{2+}$ channel blockers, including lanthanum (La<sup>3+</sup>). However, it has been demonstrated in Arabidopsis that the influx of

 Table 1 Major antioxidant enzymes and their reactions.

Table I major antioxidant enzymes and then reactions.	
Superoxide dismutase (SOD)	$O_2^- + O_2^- + 2H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$
Catalase (Cat)	$2H_2O_2 \rightarrow 2H_2O + O_2$
Ascorbate peroxidase (APX)	$2Asc + H_2O_2 \rightarrow 2MDA + 2H_2O$
Monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDAR)	$MDA + NAD(P)H + H^{+} \rightarrow Asc + NAD(P)^{-}$
Dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR)	$DHA + 2GSH \rightarrow Asc + GSSG$
Glutathione reductase (GR)	$GSSG + NAD(P)H \rightarrow 2GSH + NAD(P)^{-}$
Glutathione peroxidase (GPX)	$H_2O_2 + 2GSH \rightarrow 2H_2O + GSSG$
NADPH oxidase-like, alternative oxidase (AOX)	$2e^{-} + 2H^{+} + O_2 \rightarrow H_2O$
Peroxiredoxin (PrxR)	$2P-SH + H_2O_2 \rightarrow P-S-S-P + 2H_2O$
Glutaredoxin (GLR)	$DHA + 2GSH \rightarrow Asc + GSSG$



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of the relationships between glutathione biosynthesis and export together with interactions between the reduced and oxidized forms of glutathione and ascorbate in removal of  $H_2O_2$  and regeneration of  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl from  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl radicals.  $H_2O_2$  is reduced to water by reacting with ascorbate peroxidase (APX) using ascorbate as the electron donor forming the radical monodehydroascorbate (MDHA). The regeneration of ascorbate can proceed from MDHA directly by the action of monodehydroascorbate reductase, or via the spontaneous disproportionation of the MDHA radical into ascorbate and dehydroascorbate (DHA). Then, ascorbic acid is regenerated from DHA in a reaction catalyzed by dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR), in which reduced glutathione (GSH) is oxidised into GSSG GSH is regenerated in the company of NADPH by glutathione reductase.  $H_2O_2$  can also be eliminated by catalase (CAT) as well as produced by the action of superoxide dismutase (SOD).

 $Ca^{2+}$  also activates a  $Ca^{2+}$ /calmodulin protein which binds to, and enhances the activity of, a specific isoform of catalase (AtCat-3). Since the activated Arabidopsis  $Ca^{2+}/CaM$ had no effect on bacterial, fungal, bovine or human catalases, it seems that the increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  could be negatively regulating  $H_2O_2$  homeostasis in a plant-specific process (Yang and Poovaiah 2002).

While the role of NADPH oxidase in generating a shortlived "oxidative burst" has been well characterized in some mammalian cells, a role for the same enzyme in plant ROS has been more difficult to demonstrate unequivocally. Several reports have described the impact of the classical NADPH oxidase inhibitor, diphenyleneionium (DPI), on various ROS-linked processes in plants (Levine et al. 1994; Samuel et al. 2000), which is generally taken as prima facie evidence for the involvement of NADPH oxidase. However, it has been pointed out the DPI is also capable of inhibiting other flavoproteins, as well as peroxidases, all of which are both efficient producers of ROS and abundant in plant cells (reviewed in Bolwell 1999). Nevertheless, there is other evidence indicating that NADPH oxidase-like activities may be present in plants. Bioinformatic analysis has shown that both Arabidopsis and tomato possess multigene families of putative mammalian NADPH oxidase subunit homologues (Sagi and Fluhr 2001), while antibodies, raised against human  $p22^{phox}$ ,  $p47^{phox}$ , and  $p67^{phox}$  have been demonstrated to cross-react with appropriate sized protein

bands in plant extracts (Tenhaken *et al.* 1995; Desikan *et al.* 1996; Xing *et al.* 1997).

In Arabidopsis, analysis of mutants of the NADPH oxidase, respiratory <u>burst oxidase homologs</u> (rboh), rbohD and rbohF, has demonstrated that these molecules are sources of  $O_2^-$  production in the pathogen-induced oxidative burst (Torres *et al.* 2001). Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions also interacted functionally with recombinant rboh *in vitro*. Elevated levels of NADPH oxidase activity were induced by Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentrations between 50 µM and 10 mM, indicating that the plant plasma membrane NADPH oxidase might be directly regulated by Ca<sup>2+</sup> *in vivo*, unlike the neutrophil gp91<sup>phox</sup>. Another major difference between the plant NADPH oxidase activity and its mammalian counterpart is that the plant enzyme can reduce molecular oxygen to  $O_2^-$  in the absence of any cytosolic subunits. Torres *et al.* (2001) showed that knockouts of *AtrbohF* in Arabidopsis blocked H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> generation during bacterial and fungal challenge.

#### CALCIUM IONS IN CELLULAR PROCESSES

 $Ca^{2+}$  ions play important roles as a second messenger in metazoans (reviewed in Price *et al.* 1996; Clayton *et al.* 1999). Intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels regulate a large number of important cellular processes including gene expression, cell viability, cell proliferation, cell motility, cell shape and volume regulation (Hrabak *et al.* 1996; Sreeganga and Low

1997). Plants, like all other organisms, maintain concentrations of this ion in the cytosol and nucleus three to four orders of magnitude lower than that of other cellular compartments (Felle 1988; Bush *et al.* 1989). Intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> also rapidly responds to many exter-

Intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  also rapidly responds to many external activating agents, and the fluxes in this cation play a key role in regulating cell responses to environmental signals. The changes in  $Ca^{2+}$  levels within the cell induced by environmental challenges are controlled by ligand-gated and G protein-coupled ion channels in the plasma membrane, and by mobilization of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores (Sreeganga and Low 1997). The generation of cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  spikes and oscillations typically involves the coordinated release and uptake of  $Ca^{2+}$  from these stores, mediated by intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  channels. These channels are sensitive to several second messengers including cytosolic ADP ribose, inositol triphosphate and  $Ca^{2+}$  itself.

Transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing the calcium reporter protein aequorin have been used to demonstrate a rapid but transient biphasic increase in cytosolic free Ca<sup>24</sup> upon O<sub>3</sub> exposure (Clayton *et al.* 1999). Other oxidative stresses such as  $H_2O_2$  can also affect Ca<sup>2+</sup> fluxes. In tobacco seedlings treated with 10 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, cytosolic free Ca<sup>4</sup> levels showed a transient (1-2 minute) increase, following a lag of 20-40 seconds (Price et al. 1994). Salicylic acid (SA) (0.5 mM) treatment of tobacco cell suspension cultures stimulated an immediate and transient burst of  $O_2^-$  production followed by a transient increase in cytosolic free Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Kawano et al. 1998). In parsley cell suspension cultures, a transient Ca2+ influx was observed within two to five minutes following elicitation, and this increase was followed by an immediate increase in  $H_2O_2$  (Nürnberger *et al.* 1994). The importance of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels for the oxidative burst in plant-pathogen interactions has been demonstrated by Baker *et al.* (1993), who found that the  $Ca^{2+}$  channel-blocker  $La^{3+}$  inhibited elicitation-induced oxidative burst in tobacco cell suspensions. Another study showed that adding EGTA (a chelator of  $Ca^{2+}$ ) to suspension-cultured spruce cells significantly reduced the oxidative burst following elicitation, thus confirming the importance of an extracellular source for  $Ca^{2+}$  (Schwacke and Hager 1992). Specific inhibitors of  $Ca^{2+}$  influx blunted the cell death triggered in soybean cells by either *Pseudomonas syringae* or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, while calcium ionophores were able to induce cell death in the absence of elicitation (Levine et al. 1996). In tobacco, the O<sub>3</sub>sensitive Bel-W3 cell line was shown to display increased calcium levels compared to the resistant Bel-B cell line and incubation with calcium chelators abrogated the O3-induced cell death (Kadono *et al.* 2006). Similarly, a number of che-micals including  $Ca^{2+}$  chelators, ion channel blockers and ROS scavengers eliminated O<sub>3</sub>-induced calcium signature in Bel-W3 line indicating that increase in Ca<sup>2+</sup> is dependent on multiple upstream responses (Kadono et al. 2006). In tobacco 'Xanthi' lines, calcium chelators effectively blocked O<sub>3</sub> and other ROS-induced MAPK activation (Samuel et al. 2000), suggesting a role for calcium as a second messenger in O<sub>3</sub> and ROS-induced responses.

#### O<sub>3</sub>, ROS AND HYPERSENSITIVE CELL DEATH

The sign of a successful hypersensitive response (HR) is the formation of restricted lesions at the site of attempted colonization of the challenged plant tissue, clearly delimited from surrounding healthy tissue (Haamond-Kosack and Jones 1996). Associated with lesion formation is the development of immunity to a subsequent attack by a broad range of normally virulent pathogens (Ryals *et al.* 1996). ROS generated through the oxidative burst have been proposed to play a central role in the development of cell death during HR. The use of antioxidant enzymes or ROS scavengers has been shown to interdict the cell death process during a number of incompatible plant-pathogen interactions, while inhibition of endogenous antioxidant mechanisms results in increased ROS levels and subsequently increased cell death (Levine *et al.* 1994; Grant and Loake

2000).  $H_2O_2$  from the oxidative burst has been shown to be both necessary and sufficient to trigger hypersensitive cell death (Tenhaken et al. 1995). A several fold higher concentration of exogenously supplied H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is however required to induce cell death than to induce defense gene expression (Levine et al. 1994), and unlike induction of defense gene transcription following HR, induction of hypersensitive cell death appears to show threshold dependency on  $H_2O_2$  levels (Tenhaken et al. 1995). Levine et al. (1994) speculated that  $H_2O_2$  can function as a mobile intercellular alarm signal, diffusing from infected cells (with high H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels and undergoing hypersensitive cell death) to adjacent cells. This, in turn, activates cell protection genes (but not hypersensitive cell death) in these neighboring cells, since  $H_2O_2$  has not reached the threshold levels required to trigger hypersensitive cell death. Plant cells rapidly metabolize exogenous H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and a sustained oxidative burst is required for induction of hypersensitive cell death (Lamb and Dixon 1997). Treatment of Arabidopsis *lsd1* and *rcd1* mutant plants with a superoxide generating system, but not with  $H_2O_2$ , was shown to induced cell death (Jabs *et al.* 1996; Alvarez et al. 1998). Despite this evidence, there is still debate whether, and which, ROS are necessary and/or sufficient to orchestrate plant defense responses, including HR cell death (Rao and Davis 2001).

The O<sub>3</sub>-derived burst of ROS is thought to mimic the oxidative burst that accompanies recognition of avirulent pathogens, and O<sub>3</sub>-induced injury may therefore involve signalling pathways that are shared with those involved in the plant HR (Sharma and Davis 1997; Sandermann et al. 1998). In Arabidopsis rcd1 (radical-induced cell death 1) is an ROS-responsive lesion-mimic mutant, in which O<sub>3</sub> and extracellular superoxide and not H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> can induce transiently spreading lesions. Upon  $O_3$  exposure, *rcd1* accumulated  $O_2$ in the zone ahead of the expanding lesions before appearance of visible symptoms. This response was similar to the HR triggered by an avirulent Pseudomonas syringae strain DC3000 in an incompatible interaction in the same mutant (Overmyer et al. 2000). O<sub>3</sub>-induced cell death in rcd1 required both SA and cyclic nucleotide-gated ion channels. RCD1 was further deciphered to be a WWE protein-protein interaction domain containing protein involved in abscisic acid, ethylene and methyl jasmonate (MeJA) responses (Ahlfors et al. 2005). Further evidence for O<sub>3</sub> mimicking the pathogen-induced cell death process comes from simultaneous analysis of the O<sub>3</sub>-sensitive poplar clone NE-245 for a programmed cell death process (PCD) induced by O<sub>3</sub> exposure as well as by avirulent pathogen infection. Both stresses elicited similar patterns of DNA fragmentation, with concomitant PR-1 gene induction (Koch et al. 2000). In Arabidopsis, through a reverse genetics approach, a number of O<sub>3</sub>-induced transcripts were analyzed for their role in mediating O<sub>3</sub> sensitivity. From this screen, Grim Reaper (GRI) was identified to play a central and positive role in regulating ozone-induced cell death in Arabidopsis. GRI is orthologous to STIG1, a stigma specific gene from tobacco. Despite its poor expression in vegetative tissue in Arabidopsis, gri plants displayed enhanced sensitivity to ROS stress that depended on both superoxide and SA for inducing cell death (Wrzaczek et al. 2009). The dSPM insertion in the locus At1g53130 resulted in a truncated N-terminal secreted peptide that has been proposed to prime the cell for enhanced sensitivity to ROS-stress (Wrzaczek et al. 2009). In tobacco, a pharmacological approach was used to identify that scavenging of  ${}^{1}O_{2}^{*}$ ,  $H_{2}O_{2}$ , 'OH and redox active metals such as  $Fe^{2+}$  resulted in reduction of  $O_{3-}$ induced cell death of the sensitive Bel-W3 line, suggesting a role for the multiple ROS derivatives of O<sub>3</sub> (Kadono et al. 2006).

#### ADDITIONAL SIGNALLING SPECIES

Biosynthesis of SA is triggered by various biotic and abiotic stresses that also generate ROS (Yalpani *et al.* 1994; Sharma *et al.* 1996; Draper *et al.* 1997). SA can induce a

wide array of defense reactions including changes in cellular redox state, cellular defense and cell death (Rao and Davis 2001). O<sub>3</sub> challenge also induces changes in SA metabolism. Exposure of tobacco seedlings to 200 nL L<sup>-1</sup> O<sub>3</sub>-induced accumulation of SA, which increased 66 fold above basal levels within one day after treatment (Yalpani *et al.* 1994). Exogenous SA by itself can induce the production of ROS. Treatment of tobacco suspension cultures with SA induced increased levels of 'O<sub>2</sub>' (Kawano *et al.* 1998). One of the proposed roles of SA relates to its inhibitory effect on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-metabolizing enzymes such as CAT and APXs. Such inhibition can potentially lead to increased levels of ROS, which would function as second messengers in defense signalling pathways (Klessig *et al.* 2000).

Jasmonic acid (JA) is another signal molecule that appears to play a central role in plant disease resistance (Penninckx *et al.* 1996). JA signalling can, depending on plant species and stimulus, either antagonize or synergize SA signalling and *vice versa* (Dong 1998; Pieterse and van Loon 1999). O<sub>3</sub>-exposed Arabidopsis and hybrid poplar plants accumulated increased JA within several hours of treatment (Koch *et al.* 2000; Rao *et al.* 2000). Wounding or MeJA treatment of O<sub>3</sub>-sensitive tobacco plants led to reduced O<sub>3</sub>-induced cell death in these plants (Orvar *et al.* 1997), and wounding the plants led to reduced accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels following O<sub>3</sub> exposure (Schraudner *et al.* 1998). The precise mechanism by which JA regulates cell death is still unclear.

Ethylene influences a broad spectrum of physiological processes, both during development and in response to stress (Suzuki et al. 1998). Ethylene is a known modulator of organ senescence, a specialized form of PCD. Ethylene production is also induced by various plant pathogens, O<sub>3</sub> and hypoxia (He et al. 1996; Pell et al. 1997). O<sub>3</sub> exposure leads to ethylene emission in pea seedlings, and this stimulation appears to be linked to the plant's sensitivity towards  $O_3$  (Mehlhorn and Welburn 1987). When  $O_3$ -induced ethylene emission was blocked with inhibitors of ethylene biosynthetic enzymes, there was no visible injury induced by  $O_3$ . Induction of ethylene biosynthetic enzymes by  $O_3$  was blocked by K252 A, a protein kinase inhibitor, and the same enzymes were induced by calyculin A (a protein phosphatase inhibitor) in the absence of  $O_3$ . This pattern suggests that reversible phosphorylation events are an essential element of the regulation of ethylene biosynthesis induced by  $O_3$  (Tuomainen *et al.* 1997).

In the Arabidopsis rcd1, an ROS-responsive "lesion mimic" mutant, ethylene production was necessary for propagation of the ROS-induced lesions (Overmyer et al. 2000). Both JA and SA signalling pathways are known to interact with ethylene. Coordinated action of both ethylene and JA were required for efficient defense responses (Pieterse and van Loon 1999), while ethylene is believed to increase the plant sensitivity to SA (Lawton et al. 1995). Expression of ein2 (ethylene insensitive 2) attenuated the SAdependent cell death in acd5 (accelerated cell death 5) mutant (Greenberg et al. 2000). O3-induced lesion propagation was reduced when *rcd1:ein2* double mutant was exposed to O<sub>3</sub>. It is generally accepted that the interaction between SA and ethylene signalling pathways fine-tunes the kinetics of lesion formation and propagation (Rao and Davis 2001).

It is interesting that in mammalian systems, ROS can activate various protein kinases including modules of a number of early signal transduction components such as PK-C (Taher *et al.* 1993) and lead to the activation of both ERK1/2 pathway and p38 pathway, which have opposing roles in cancer suppression (Pan *et al.* 2009). In plants, multiple biotic and abiotic elicitors associated with ROS accumulation also induce rapid MAPK activation (Mishra *et al.* 2006). Similar to all these elicitors, exposure of both tobacco and Arabidopsis to  $O_3$  leads to rapid activation of MAPKs, which were identified through in-gel kinase assays and immune-blotting with phosphor-MAPK specific antibodies (Samuel *et al.* 2000; Samuel and Ellis 2002; Miles *et* 

*al.* 2002). These MAPKs were further identified to be SIPK and WIPK in tobacco and the orthologous AtMPK6 and AtMPK3 in Arabidopsis (Samuel and Ellis 2002; Miles *et al.* 2005). The O<sub>3</sub>-induced MAPK activation was further identified through pharmacological approaches to be mediated through upstream receptor activation, indicating a possible oxidative role for O<sub>3</sub> in altering membrane function and initiating the signal at the cell membrane (Miles *et al.* 2002). Ozone-induced MAPK activation was also observed in other species including poplar, conifers (*Picea*) and moss (*Physcomitrella patens*) (Miles *et al.* 2002).

Through RNA-interference it was also shown that MAPKs, particularly SIPK/AtMPK6, played a central role in mediating O<sub>3</sub>-induced cell death. Suppression of SIPK and AtMPK6 in tobacco and Arabidopsis respectively, resulted in increased sensitivity of these transgenics to  $O_3$ exposure (Samuel and Ellis 2002; Miles et al. 2005, 2009a). This hypersensitivity to  $O_3$  was also accompanied by misregulation of the co-activated WIPK/AtMPK3 in both systems, suggesting a complex interaction between these kinases. In Arabidopsis, the MAPKK, AtMKK5 was identified as an upstream activator of AtMPK6/AtMPK3 module, as suppression of AtMKK5 resulted in increased O<sub>3</sub> sensitivity and reduced signal transmission to AtMPK6/AtMPK3 (Miles et al. 2009b). This is quite consistent with the hypothesis that O<sub>3</sub> exposure leads to rapid ROS accumulation resulting in oxidative phosphorylation and activation of a membrane bound receptor (or multiple receptors) that relays the signal on to the MAPK pathway.

## **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

ROS generated from O<sub>3</sub> stress can act as second messengers helping to integrate a plethora of diverse cellular processes including characteristic O<sub>3</sub>-induced flecking or HR. These O3-induced responses are mediated by multiple second messengers and signalling proteins that, along with the various plant phytohormones, orchestrate the transmission and response patterns of various plant and crop species to O<sub>3</sub> stress. While the various signals such as MAPK pathways, Grim reaper and RCD1-regulated ROS signal controls have been identified, the nature of the molecules and signalling mechanisms downstream of these components remain elusive. Both biochemical and genetic approaches in the future should provide insights into these complex regulatory networks. As tropospheric O<sub>3</sub> levels rise, it does become imperative to create O<sub>3</sub>-tolerant crop species to sustain productivity. A thorough understanding of the mechanisms behind O<sub>3</sub>-induced cellular signalling will allow us to manipulate pathways in crop species, to create ozone-tolerant varieties that will sustain yield under damaging ozone concentrations.

## REFERENCES

- Abe MK, Kartha S, Karpova AY, Li J, Liu PT, Kuo WL, Hershenson MB (1998) Hydrogen peroxide activates signal-regulated kinase via protein kinase C, Raf-1, and MEK1. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* **18**, 562-569
- Ahlfors R, Lång S, Overmyer K, Jaspers P, Brosché M, Tauriainen A, Kollist H, Tuominen H, Belles-Boix E, Piippo M, Inzé D, Palva ET, Kangasjärvi J (2004) Arabidopsis RADICAL-INDUCED CELL DEATH1 belongs to the WWE protein-protein interaction domain protein family and modulates abscisic acid, ethylene, and methyl jasmonate responses. *Plant Cell* 16, 1925-1937
- Alvarez ME, Pennell RI, Meijer P-J, Ishikawa A, Dixon RA, Lamb C (1998) Reactive oxygen intermediates mediate a systemic signal network in the establishment of plant immunity. *Cell* **92**, 773-784
- Asada K (1992) Ascorbate peroxidase a hydrogen peroxide-scavenging enzyme in plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* **85**, 235-241
- Asada K (2006) Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. *Plant Physiology* **141**, 391-396
- Baker CJ, Orlandi EW, Mock NM (1993) Harpin, an elicitor of the hypersensitive response in tobacco caused by *Erwinia amylovora*, elicits active oxygen production in suspension cells. *Plant Physiology* **102**, 1341-1344
- **Bell E, Mullet JE** (1993) Charachterization of an *Arabidopsis* lipoxygenase gene responsive to methyl jasmonate and wounding. *Plant Physiology* **103**, 1133-1137

- Bienert GP, Møller ALB, Kristainsen KA, Schulz A, Møller IM, Schjoerring JK, Jahn TP (2007) Specific aquaporins facilitate the diffusion of hydrogen peroxide across membranes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 1183-1192
- Blumwald E, Aharon GS, Lam BC-H (1998) Early signal transduction pathways in plant-pathogen interactions. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 3, 342-345
- Boldt R, Scadalios JG (1997) Influence of UV-light on the expression of Cat2 and Cat3 catalase genes in maize. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 23, 505-514
- Bolwell GP (1999) Role of active oxygen species and NO in plant defense responses. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 2, 287-294
- Boveris A, Chance B (1973) The mitochondrial generation of hydrogen peroxide. General properties and effect of hyperbaric oxygen. *Biochemical Jour*nal 134, 707-716
- Boveris A, Cadenas E, Stoppani AOM (1976) Role of ubiquinone in the mitochondrial generation of hydrogen peroxide *Biochemical Journal* 156, 435-444
- Bowler C, Van Montagu M, Inzé D (1992) Superoxide dismutase and stress tolerance. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 43, 83-116
- **Branco MR, Marinho HS, Cyrne L, Antunes F** (2004) Decrease of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> plasma membrane permeability during adaptation to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in *Saccharomyces cervisiae. The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**, 6501-6506
- Brendley BW, Pell EJ (1998) Ozone-induced changes in biosynthesis of Rubisco and associated compensation to stress in foliage of hybrid poplar. *Tree Physiology* 18, 81-90
- Bush DS, Biswas AK, Jones RL (1989) Gibberellic-acid-stimulated Ca<sup>2+</sup> accumulation in endoplasmic reticulum of barley aleurone: Ca<sup>2+</sup> transport and steady-state levels. *Planta* 178, 411-420
- Braidot E, Petrussa E, Vianello A, Marci F (1999) Hydrogen peroxide generation by higher plant mitochondria oxidizing complex I or complex II substrates. *FEBS Letters* **451**, 347-350
- Chameides WL, Lindsay RW, Richardson J, Kiang CS (1988) The role of biogenic hydrocarbons in urban photochemical smog: Atlanta as a case study. *Science* 241, 1473-1475
- Chakraborti T, Das S, Mondal M, Roychoudhuri S, Chakraborti S (1999) Oxidant, mitochondria and calcium: An overview. *Cellular Signalling* **11**, 77-85
- Chapman S (1930) A theory of upper atmospheric ozone. Memoirs of the Royal Meteorological Society 3, 103-125
- Clayton H, Knight MR, Knight H, McAinsh MR, Hetherington AM (1999) Dissection of the ozone-induced calcium signature. *The Plant Journal* **17**, 575-579
- Conklin PL, Last RL (1995) Differential accumulation of antioxidant mRNAs in Arabidopsis thaliana exposed to ozone. Plant Physiology 109, 203-212
- Corpas FJ, Barroso JB, del Río LA (2001) Peroxisomes as a source of reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide signal molecules in plant cells. *Trends in Plant Science* 6, 145-150
- Criegee R (1957) The course of ozonation of unsaturated compounds. *Record* of Chemical Progress 18, 110-120
- Crutzen PJ, Oppenheimer M (2008) Learning about ozone depletion. *Climate Change* **89**, 143-154
- Cueto R, Squaldrito GL, Bermudez E, Pryor WA (1992) Identification of heptanal and nonanal in brochoalveolar lavage from rats exposed to low levels of ozone. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 188, 129-134
- Darrall NM (1989) The effect of air pollutants on physiological processes in plants. Plant Cell and Environment 12, 1-30
- Denman KL, Brasseur G, Chidthaisong A, Ciais P, Cox PM, Dickinson RE, Hauglustaine D, Heinze C, Holland E, Jacob D, Lohmann U, Ramachandran S, da Silva Dias PL, Wofsy SC, Zhang X (2007) Couplings between changes in the climate system and biogeochemistry. In: Solomon S, Kin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL, Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- **Desikan R, Hancock JT, Coffey MJ, Neill SJ** (1996) Generation of active oxygen in elicited cells of *Arabidopsis thaliana* is mediated by a NADPH oxidase-like enzyme. *FEBS Letters* **382**, 213-217
- Dong X (1998) SA, JA, ethylene, and disease resistance in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 1, 316-323
- Draper J (1997) Salicylate, superoxide synthesis and cell suicide in plant defense. Trends in Plant Science 2, 162-165
- Eigenbrode JL, Freeman KH (2006) Late Archean rise of aerobic microbial ecosystems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 103, 15759-15764
- Felle H (1988) Auxin causes oscillations of cytoplasmic free calcium and pH in Zea mays L coleoptiles. Planta 174, 495-499

Fenton HJH (1894) The oxidation of tartaric acid in the presence of iron. *Journal of the Chemical Society Transactions* **65**, 899-910

Foyer CH, Descourvieres P, Kunert KJ (1994) Protection against oxygen

radicals: An important defence mechanism studied in transgenic plants. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 17, 507-523

- Foyer CH, Noctor H (2003) Redox sensing and signalling associated with reactive oxygen in chloroplasts, peroxisomes and mitochondria. *Physiologia Plantarum* 119, 355-364
- Gauss M, Myhre G, Isaksen ISA, Grewe V, Pitari G, Wild O, Collins WJ, Dentener FJ, Ellingsen K, Gohar LK, Hauglustaine DA, Iachetti D, Lamarque J-F, Mancini E, Mickley LJ, Prather MJ, Pyle JA, Sanderson MG, Shine KP, Stevenson DS, Sudo K, Szopa S, Zeng G (2006) Radiative forcing since preindustrial times due to ozone change in the troposphere and the lower stratosphere. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* 6, 575-599
- George P (1947) Some experiments on the reactions of potassium superoxide in aqueous solutions. *Discussions of the Faraday Society* 2, 196-205
- Grant JJ, Loake GJ (2000) Role of reactive oxygen intermediates and cognate redox signaling in disease resistance. *Plant Physiology* 124, 21-29
- Greenberg JT, Silverman FP, Liang H (2000) Uncoupling salicylic aciddependent cell death and defense-related responses from disease resistance in the Arabidopsis mutant acd5. Genetics 156, 341-350
- Grimes HD, Perkins KK, Boss WF (1983) Ozone degrades into hydroxyl radicals under physiological conditions. *Plant Physiology* 72, 1016-1020
- Haber F, Weiss J (1932) Über die katalyse des hydroperoxydes. Naturwissenschaft 51, 948-950
- Haber F, Weiss J (1934) The catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxide by iron salts. Proceeding of the Royal Society 147, 332-351
- Haber F, Willstätter R (1931) Unpaarigheit und radikalketten im reaktionmechanismus organischer und enzymatischer Vorgänge. Chemische Berichte 64, 2844-2856
- Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones JDG (1996) Resistance gene-dependent plant defense responses. *Plant Cell* 8, 1773-1791
- He C-J, Morgan PW, Drew MC (1996) Transduction of an ethylene signal is required for cell death and lysis in the root cortex of maize during aerenchyma formation induced by hypoxia. *Plant Physiology* 112, 463-472
- Heath RL (1987) The biochemistry of ozone attack on the plasma membrane of plant cells. *Recent Advances in Phytochemistry* 21, 29-54
- Heath RI (1988) Biochemical mechanisms of pollutant stress. In: Heck WN, Taylor OC, Tingey DT (Eds) Assessment of Crop Loss from Air Pollutants Elsevier, London, pp 259-286
- Heck WW, Cure WW, Rawlings JO, Zaragoza LJ, Heagle AS, Heggestad HE, Khout RJ, Kress LW, Temple PJ (1984a) Assessing impacts of ozone on agricultural crops: I. Overview. *Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association* 34, 729-735
- Heck WW, Cure WW, Rawlings JO, Zaragoza LJ, Heagle AS, Heggestad HE, Khout RJ, Kress LW, Temple PJ (1984b) Assessing impacts of ozone on agricultural crops: II. Crop yield functions and alternative exposure statistics. Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association 34, 810-817
- Hewitt NC, Kok GL, Fall R (1990) Hydroperoxides in plants exposed to ozone mediate air pollution damage to alkene emitters. *Nature* 344, 56-58
- Holland HD (1994) Early Proterozoic atmospheric change. In: Bengtson S (Ed) Early Life on Earth, Columbia University Press, New York, pp 237-244
- Hrabak EM, Dickmann LJ, Satterlee JS, Sussman MR (1996) Characterization of eight new members of the calmodulin-like domain protein kinase gene family from *Arabidopisis thaliana*. *Plant Molecular Biology* **31**, 405-412
- Hill AC, Pack MR, Treshow M, Downs RJ, Transtrum LG (1961) Plant injury induced by ozone. *Phytopathology* 51, 356-363
- Jabs T, Dietrich RA, Dangl J (1996) Initiation of runaway cell death in an *Arabidopsis* mutant by extracellular superoxide. *Science* 273, 1853-1856
- Jespersen HM, Kjaersgård IVH, Østergaard L, Welinder KG (1997) From sequence analysis of three novel ascorbate peroxidases from *Arabidopsis thaliana* to structure, function and evolution of seven types of ascorbate peroxidase. *Biochemical Journal* **326**, 305-310
- Kadono T, Yamaguchi Y, Furuichi T, Hirono M, Garrec JP, Kawano T (2006) Ozone-induced cell death mediated with oxidative and calcium signalling pathways in tobacco bel-w3 and bel-B cell suspension cultures. *Plant Signaling and Behavior* 1, 312-22
- Kangasjarvi J, Talvinen J, Utriainen M, Karjalainen R (1994) Plant defense systems induced by ozone. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **17**, 783-794
- Kawano T, Sahashi N, Takahashi K, Uozumi N, Muto S (1998) Salicylic acid induces superoxide generation followed by an increase in cytosolic calcium ion in tobacco suspension culture: The earliest events in signal transduction. *Plant, Cell Physiology* **39**, 721-730
- Kelly FJ, Mudway I, Krishna MT, Holgate ST (1995) The free radical basis of air pollution: Focus on ozone. *Respiratory Medicine* 89, 647-656
- Kerstiens G, Lendzian KJ (1989) Interactions between ozone and plant cuticles. 1. Ozone deposition and permeability. *New Phytologist* **112**, 13-19
- Klessig DF, Durner J, Noad R, Navarre DA, Wendehenne D, Kumar D,
  Zhou JM, Shah J, Zhang S, Kachroo P, Trifa Y, Pontier D, Lam E, Silva
  H (2000) Nitric oxide and salicylic acid signaling in plant defense. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97, 8849-8855
- Koch JR, Creelman RA, Eshita SM, Seskar M, Mullet JE, Davis KR (2000) Ozone sensitivity in hybrid poplar correlates with insensitivity to both salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. The role of programmed cell death in lesion formation. *Plant Physiology* 123, 487-96

- Koch JR, Scherzer AJ, Eshita SM, Davis KR (1998) Ozone sensitivity in hybrid poplar is correlated with the lack of defense-gene activation. *Plant Physiology* 118, 1243-1252
- Koppenol WH (2001) The Haber-Weiss cycle 70 years later. Redox Report 6, 229-234
- Kowaltowski AJ, Vercesi AE (1999) Mitochondrial damage induced by conditions of oxidative stress. Free radical biology and Medicine 26, 463-471
- Kubo A, Hikaru S, Kiyoshi T, Kunisuke T, Noriaki K (1992) Cloning and sequencing ascorbate peroxidase from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Molecular Biology* 18, 691-701
- Laisk A, Kull O, Moldau H (1989) Ozone concentration in leaf intercellular air spaces is close to zero. *Plant Physiology* 90, 1163-1167
- Lamb C, Dixon RA (1997) The oxidative burst in plant disease resistance. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 48, 251-275
- Langebartels C, Heller W, Fuhrer G, Lippert M, Simons S, Sandermann H Jr. (1998) Memory effects in the action of ozone on conifers. *Ecotoxicology* and Environmental Safety 41, 62-72
- Larkindale J, Knight MR (2002) Protection against heat stress-induced oxidative damage in Arabidopsis involves calcium, abscisic acid, ethylene, and salicylic acid. *Plant Physiology* 128, 682-695
- Lawton K, Weymann K, Friedrich L, Vernooij B, Uknes S, Ryals J (1995) Systemic acquired resistance in Arabidopsis requires salicylic acid but not ethylene. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 8, 863-870
- Levine A, Pennell RI, Alverez ME, Palmer R, Lamb C (1996) Calciummediated apoptosis in plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. *Current Biology* **6**, 427-437
- Levine A, Tenhaken R, Dixon R, Lamb C (1994) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> from the oxidative burst orchestrates the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. *Cell* 79, 583-593
- Lois R, Hahlbrock K (1992) Differential wound activation of members of the phenylalanine ammonia-lyase and 4-coumarate: CoA ligase gene families in various organs of parsley plants. *Zeitschrift für Naturforschung* 47, 90-94
- Maccarrone M, Veldink GA, Vligenthart JFG (1992) Thermal injury and ozone stress affect soybean lipoxygenases expression. *FEBS Letters* 309, 225-230
- Manning WJ, Krupa SV (1992) Experimental methodology for studying the effects of ozone on crops and trees. In: Surface level ozone exposures and their effects on vegetation. Lefohn AS, (Ed). Chelsea, MI: Lewis Publishers, pp 93-153
- Maxwell DP, Wang Y, McIntosh L (1999) The alternative oxidase lowers mitochondrial reactive oxygen production in plant cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 96, 8271-8276
- McConnell JC, Jin JJ (2008) Stratospheric ozone chemistry. Atmosphere-Ocean 46, 69-92
- McCurdy TR (1994) Concentration of ozone in the lower troposphere (ambient air). In: McKee DJ (Ed) *Tropospheric Ozone: Human Health and Agricultural Impacts*, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL, pp 19-37
- Meehl GA, Stocker TF, Collins WD, Friedlingstein P, Gaye AT, Gregory JM, Kitoh A, Knutti R, Murphy JM, Noda A, Raper SCB, Watterson IG, Weaver AJ, Zhao Z-C (2007) Global climate projections. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (Eds) Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and US, pp 747-845
- Mehlhorn H, Wellburn AR (1987) Stress ethylene formation determines plant sensitivity to ozone. *Nature* 327, 417-418
- Mehlhorn H, Tabner BJ, Wellburn AR (1990) Electrom spin resonance evidence for the formation of free radicals in plants exposed to ozone. *Physiologia Plantarum* 79, 377-383
- Miles GP, Samuel MA, Ellis BE (2002) Suramin inhibits oxidant-induced MAPK signalling in plants. *Plant Cell and Environment* 25, 521-527
- Miles GP, Samuel MA, Zhang Y, Ellis BE (2005) RNA interference-based (RNAi) suppression of MPK6, an Arabidopsis mitogen-activated protein kinase, results in hypersensitivity to ozone and misregulation of MPK3. *Envi*ronmental Pollution 138, 230-237
- Miles GP, Samuel MA, Donohoe SM, Ranish JA, Sperrazzo GM, Ellis BE (2009a) Quantitative proteomics identifies oxidant-induced, AtMPK6-dependent changes in Arabidopsis thaliana protein profiles. Plant Signaling and Behavior 4, 497-505
- Miles GP, Samuel MA, Ellis BE (2009b) Suppression of MKK5 reduces ozone-induced signal transmission to both MPK3 and MPK6 and confers increased ozone sensitivity in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Signaling and Behavior* 4, 687-692
- Mishra S, Srivastava S, Tripathi RD, Govindarajan R, Kuriakose SV, Prasad MNV (2006) Phytochelatin synthesis and response of antioxidants during cadmium stress in *Bacopa monnieri* L. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 44, 25-37
- Mittler R, Zilinska BA (1991) Molecular cloning and nucleotide sequence analysis of a cDNA encoding pea cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase. *FEBS Letters* 2, 257-259
- Moller IM (2001) Plant mitochondria and oxidative stress. Electron transport, NADPH turnover and metabolism of reactive oxygen species. *Annual Review*

of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 52, 561-591

- Møller IM, Jensen PE, Hansson A (2007) Oxidative modifications to cellular components in plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 58, 459-481
- Møller IM (2007) Mitochondrial electron transport and oxidative stress. In: Logan DC (Ed) Annual Plant Reviews: Plant Mitochondria, Blackwell, Oxford, pp 185-211
- Morgan DL, Wenzel DG (1985) Free radical species mediating the toxicity of ozone for cultured rat lung fibroblasts. *Toxicology* 36, 243-251
- Mudd JB, Dawson PJ, Tseng S, Liu FP (1997) Reaction of ozone with protein tryptophans: Band III, serum albumin, and cytochrome C. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 338, 143-149
- Noctor G, Foyer CH (1998) Ascorbate and glutathione: Keeping active oxygen under control. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 49, 249-279
- Nürnberger T, Nennstiel D, Jabs T, Sacks WR, Hahlbrock K, Scheel D (1994) High affinity binding of a fungal oligopeptide elicitor to parsley membranes triggers multiple defense responses. *Cell* 78, 449-460
- Overmyer K, Tuominen H, Kettunen R, Betz C, Langebartels C, Sandermann H Jr., Kangasjärvi J (2000) Ozone-sensitive arabidopsis rcd1 mutant reveals opposite roles for ethylene and jasmonate signalling pathways in regulating superoxide-dependent cell death. *Plant Cell* 12, 1849-62
- Orvar BL, McPherson J, Ellis BE (1997) Pre-activating wounding response in tobacco prior to high-level ozone exposure prevents necrotic injury. *The Plant Journal* 11, 203-212
- Pan JS, Hong MZ, Ren JL (2009) Reactive oxygen species: a double-edged sword in oncogenesis. World Journal of Gastroenterology 15, 1702-1707
- Patton RL, Garraway MO (1986) Ozone-induced necrosis and increased peroxidase activity in hybrid poplar leaves. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 26, 137-141
- Pauls KP, Thompson JE (1980) In vitro simulation of senescence-related membrane damage by ozone-induced lipid peroxidation. Nature 283, 504-506
- Pell E, Schlagnhaufe CD, Arteca RN (1997) Ozone-induced oxidative stress: mechanisms of action and reaction. *Plant Physiology* 100, 264-273
- Pellinen R, Palva T, Kangasjärvi J (1999) Subcellular localization of ozoneinduced hydrogen peroxide production in birch (*Betula pendula*) leaf cells. *The Plant Journal* 20, 349-356
- Pieterse CJM, van Loon LC (1999) Salicylic acid-independent plant defense pathways. Trends in Plant Science 4, 52-58
- Pitts JN, Finlayson BJ (1975) Mechanisms of photochemical air pollution. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 14, 1-15
- Poisson N, Kanakidou M, Crutzen PJ (2000) Impact of non-methane hydrocarbons on tropospheric chemistry and the oxidizing power of the global troposphere: 3-dimensional modeling results. *Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry* 36, 157-230
- Poyton RO, McEwen JE (1996) Crosstalk between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes. Annual Review of Biochemistry 65, 563-607
- Prather M, Gauss M, Bemtsen T, Isaksen ISJ, Bey I, Brasseur G, Dentener F, Derwent R, Stevenson D, Grenfell L, Hauglustaine D, Horowitz L, Jacob D, Mickley L, Lawrence M, von Kuhlmann R, Muller J, Pitari G, Rogers H, Johnson M, Matthew P, Law K, van Weele M, Wild O (2003) Fresh air in the 21st century? *Geophysical Research Letters* **30**, 1100
- Price A, Knight M, Knight H, Cuin T, Tomos D, Ashenden T (1996) Cytosolic calcium and oxidative plant stress. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 24, 479-483
- Pryor WA, Wang K, Bermudez E (1992) Cholesterol ozonation products as biomarkers for ozone exposure in rats. *Biochemical and Biophysical Re*search Communications 188, 618-623
- Pryor WA (1994) Mechanisms of radical formation from reactions of ozone with target molecules in the lung. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 17, 451-465
- Pryor WA, Squadrito GL, Friedman M (1995) A new mechanism for the toxicity of ozone. *Toxicology Letters* 82/83, 287-293
- Rao MV, Davis KR (2001) The physiology of ozone induced cell death. *Planta* 213, 682-90
- Rao MV, Paliyath G, Ormrod DP (1996) Ultraviolet-B- and ozone-induced biochemical changes in antioxidant enzymes of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiology* 110, 125-136
- Rao MV, Lee H, Creelman RA, Mullet JE, Davis KR (2000) Jasmonic acid signaling modulates ozone-induced hypersensitive cell death. *Plant Cell* 12, 1633-1646
- Renaut J, Bohler S, Hausman J-F, Hoffmann L, Sergeant K, Ahsan N, Jolivet Y, Dizengremel P (2009) The impact of atmospheric composition on plants: A case study of ozone and poplar. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews* 28, 495-516
- Runeckles VC, Chevone BI (1992) Crop responses to ozone. In: Lefohn AS (Ed) Surface Level Ozone Exposures and Their Effects on Vegetation, Lewis Publishers, Inc., Chelsea, MI, USA pp 189-270
- Runeckles VC, Krupa SV (1994) The impact of UV-B radiation and ozone on terrestrial vegetation. *Environmental Pollution* **83**, 191-213
- Runeckles VC, Vaartnou M (1997) EPR evidence for superoxide anion formation in leaves during exposure to low levels of ozone. *Plant Cell and Envi*-

ronment 20, 306-314

- Ryals J, Uknes S, Ward E (1996) Systemic acquired resistance. *Plant Physiology* **104**, 1109-1112
- Sagi M, Fluhr R (2001) Superoxide production by the gp91phox NADPH oxidase plant homologue: Modulation of activity by calcium and TMV. *Plant Physiology* 126, 1281-1290
- Salter L, Hewitt CN (1992) Ozone-hydrocarbon interactions in plants. *Phytochemistry* 31, 4045-4050
- Samuel MA, Ellis BE (2002) Double Jeopardy: Both overexpression and suppression of a redox-active plant mitogen-activated protein kinase render tobacco plants ozone sensitive. *Plant Cell* 14, 2059-2069
- Samuel MA, Miles GP, Ellis BE (2000) Ozone treatment rapidly activates MAP kinase signalling in plants. *Plant Journal* 22, 367-376
- Sandermann H, Ernst D, Heller W, Langerbartels C (1998) Ozone: An abiotic elicitor of plant defence reactions. Trends in Plant Science 3, 47-50
- Sano H, Seo S, Orudgev E, Youssefian S, Ishizuka K, Ohashi Y (1994) Expression of the gene for a small GTP binding protein in transgenic tobacco elevates endogenous cytokinin levels, abnormally induces salicylic acid in response to wounding, and increases resistance to tobacco mosaic virus infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 91, 10556-10560
- Santos M, Gousseau H, Lister C, Foyer C, Creissen G, Mullineaux P (1996) Cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase from *Arabidopsis thaliana* L. is encoded by a small multigene family. *Planta* **198**, 64-69
- Schraudner M, Moeder W, Wiese C, Camp WV (1998) Ozone-induced oxidative burst in the ozone biomonitor plant, tobacco Bel W3. *The Plant Journal* 16, 235-245
- Schwacke R, Hager A (1992) Fungal elicitors induce a transient release of active oxygen species from cultured spruce cells that is dependent on  $Ca_2^+$  and protein-kinase activity. *Planta* **187**, 136-141
- Shapiro MA (1980) Turbulent mixing within tropopause folds as a mechanism for the exchange of chemical constituents between the stratosphere and troposphere. *Journal of Atmospheric Sciences* 37, 994-1004
- Sharma YK, Davis KR (1994) Ozone-induced expression of stress-related genes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiology 105, 1089-1096
- Sharma YK, Leon J, Raskin I, Davis KR (1996) Ozone-induced responses in Arabidopsis thaliana: The role of salicylic acid in the accumulation of defense-related transcripts and induced resistance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 93, 5099-5104
- Sharma YK, Davis KR (1997) The effects of ozone on antioxidant responses in plants. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 23, 480-488
- Sillman S (1999) The relationship between ozone,  $NO_x$  and hydrocarbons in urban and polluted rural environments. *Atmospheric Environment* 33, 1821-1845
- Solomon S (1999) Stratospheric ozone depletion: A review of concepts and history. Reviews in Geophysics 37, 275-316
- Squadrito GL, Uppu RM, Cueto R, Pryor WA (1992) Production of the Criegee ozonide during the ozonation of 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine liposomes. *Lipids* 27, 955-958
- Sreeganga C, Low PS (1997) Measurement of Ca<sup>2+</sup> fluxes during elicitation of the oxidative burst in aequorin-transformed tobacco cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272, 28274-28280
- Stockwell WR, Kirchner F, Kuhn M, Seefeld S (1997) New mechanism for regional atmospheric chemistry modeling. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 102, 25847-25879

- Storz G, Imlay JA (1999) Oxidative stress. Current Opinion in Microbiology 2, 188-194
- Storz G, Tartaglia LA, Ames BN (1990) Transcriptional regulator of oxidative stress inducible genes: direct activation by oxidation. *Science* 248, 189-194
- Suzuki K, Suzuki N, Ohme-Takagi M, Shinshi H (1998) Immediate early induction of mRNAs for ethylene-responsive transcription factors in tobacco leaf strips after cutting. *The Plant Journal* 15, 657-665
- Taher MM, Garcia JG, Natarajan V (1993) Hydroperoxide-induced diacylglycerol formation and protein kinase C activation in vascular endothelial cells. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 303, 260-266
- Tanaka K, Saji H, Kondo N (1988) Immunological properties of glutothione reductase and inductive biosynthesis of the enzyme with ozone. *Plant, Cell* and *Physiology* 29, 637-642
- Tang X, Madronich S, Wallington T, Calamari D (1998) Changes in tropospheric composition and air quality. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiol*ogy B: Biology 46, 83-95
- Tenhaken R, Levine A, Brisson LF, Dixon RA, Lamb C (1995) Function of the oxidative burst in hypersensitive disease resistance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 92, 4158-4163
- Torres MA, Dangi JL, Jones JDG (2001) Arabidopsis gp91<sup>phox</sup> homologues AtrobhD and AtrobhF are required for accumulation of reactive oxygen intermediates in the plant defense response. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 99, 517-522
- Tuomainen J, Betz C, Kangasjärvi J, Ernst D, Yin Z, Langerbartels C, Sandermann H (1997) Ozone induction of ethylene emission in tomato plants: Regulation by differential transcript accumulation for the biosynthetic enzymes. *The Plant Journal* 12, 1151-1162
- Turrens JF, Boveris A (1980) Generation of the superoxide anion by NADPH dehydrogenase of bovine heart mitochondria. *Biochemical Journal* 191, 421-427
- Van Dingenen R, Dentener FJ, Raes F, Krol MC, Emberson L, Cofala J (2009) The global impact of ozone on agricultural crop yields under current and future air quality legislation. *Atmospheric Environment* 43, 604-618
- Velasco RM, Uribe FJ, Pérez-Chavela E (2008) Stratospheric ozone dynamics according to the Chapman mechanism. *Journal of Mathematical Chemistry* 44, 529-539
- Weiss J, Humphrey CW (1949) Reactions between hydrogen peroxide and iron salts. *Nature* 163, 691
- Wrzaczek M, Brosché M, Kollist H, Kangasjärvi J (2009) Arabidopsis GRI is involved in the regulation of cell death induced by extracellular ROS. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 106, 5412-5417
- Xing T, Higgins VJ, Blumwald E (1997) Race-specific elicitors of *Cladospo-rium fulvum* promote translocation of cytosolic components of NADPH oxidase to the plasma membrane of tomato cells. *Plant Cell* 9, 249-259
- Yalpani N, Enyedi AJ, Leon J, Raskin I (1994) Ultraviolet light and ozone stimulate accumulation of salicylic acid, pathogenesis-related proteins and virus resistance in tobacco. *Planta* 193, 372-376
- Yang T, Poovaiah BW (2002) Hydrogen peroxide homeostasis: Activation of plant catalase by calcium/calmodulin. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences USA 99, 4097-4102
- Yano A, Suzuki K, Uchimiya H, Shinshi H (1998) Induction of hypersensitive cell death by a fungal protein in cultures of tobacco cells. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 11, 115-123

Scheme 1 Stratospheric ozone formation and destruction.		Scheme 2 Tropospheric ozone formation and destruction.		
$O_2 + hv \rightarrow 2 O (\lambda < 242 nm)$	(R1)	$NO_2^{\bullet} + hv \rightarrow NO^{\bullet} + O (\lambda < 420 \text{ nm})$	(R10)	
$O + O_2 + M \rightarrow O_3 + M$	(R2)	$O + O_2 + M \rightarrow O_3 + M$	(R11)	
$O_3 + hv \rightarrow O + O_2 (\lambda < 1140 \text{ nm})$	(R3)	$O_3 + NO^{\bullet} \rightarrow NO^{\bullet}_2 + O_2$	(R12)	
$O + O_3 \rightarrow 2 O_2$	(R4)	$\rm CO + OH \rightarrow \rm CO_2 + H$	(R13)	
$OH + O_3 \rightarrow HO_2 + O_2$	(R5)	$H' + O_2 + M \rightarrow HO'_2$	(R14)	
$HO_2^{\bullet} + O_3 \rightarrow OH + 2O_2$	(R6)	$NO' + HO'_2 \rightarrow NO'_2 + OH$	(R15)	
$N_2O + O \rightarrow 2NO^{\bullet}$	(R7)	$NO_2^{\bullet} + O_2 + hv \rightarrow NO^{\bullet} + O_3$	(R16)	
$NO' + O_3 \rightarrow NO'_2 + O_2$	(R8)	$CH_4 + 4O_2 + 2hv \rightarrow HCHO + H_2O + 2O_3$	(R17)	
$NO_2^{\bullet} + O \rightarrow NO^{\bullet} + O_2$	(R9)	$\mathbf{RH} + 4\mathbf{O}_2 + 2hv \rightarrow \mathbf{R'CHO} + \mathbf{H}_2\mathbf{O} + 2\mathbf{O}_3$	(R18)	

Scheme 3 Fenton and Haber-Weiss reactions.

$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + HO^- + HO^-$	(R19)
$H_2O_2 + HO' \rightarrow H_2O + O'_2 + H^+$	(R20)
$H_2O_2 + O_2 + H^+ \rightarrow O_2 + H_2O + HO^-$	(R21)
$\mathrm{Fe}^{2+} + \mathrm{HO} + \mathrm{H}^+ \rightarrow \mathrm{Fe}^{3+} + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}$	(R22)
$Fe^{3+} + HO_2^{-} \leftrightarrow Fe^{2+} + HO_2^{-}$	(R23)
$\mathrm{Fe}^{3+} + \mathrm{O}_2^{-} \rightarrow \mathrm{Fe}^{2+} + \mathrm{O}_2$	(R24)